The London School of Economics and Political Science

Department of Social Policy

Dissertation for MSc International Social and Public Policy (General Stream)

# To what extent can the Equality Act 2010 be considered a 'radical' Act, contributing to Black liberation and recognition in Britain?

#### Abstract

Extensive research by formal policy institutions and the Runnymede Trust in the last forty years, have described the manifestations of racial and ethnic inequality in the UK. Key policy areas, including housing, criminal justice, labour market outcomes, education and discrimination have been particularly disparate. Responding to persistent inequalities, the Equality Act 2010 aimed to harmonise nine major statutes and strengthen provisions to minimise inequalities for marginalised groups in Britain. Ten years on, the transnational Black Lives Matter protests of 2020 provided a focusing event that highlighted the continual structural violence experienced by Black communities. This research piece explores the underpinning ideas that have perpetuated anti-Blackness in Britain across a range of institutions, both historically and contemporarily, by bringing theories of policy change into conversation with Critical Race Theory.

The analysis found that the Equality Bill was radical in its codification of Black liberatory theories, such as Crenshaw's (1987) intersectionality; Robinson's (2000) racial capitalism; and Ture and Hamilton's (1967) institutional racism. However, due to the ad hoc implementation by the succeeding Coalition Government, the emerging Act has been considerably less radical. This is largely because the policy idea embodied in the Equality Act 2010 focuses on discrimination to individuals – an internationally established model – rather than addressing structural violence directed toward communities. To truly achieve Black liberation in Britain, it would be necessary to acknowledge the harm of anti-Black values within society through decolonising. From here, policy institutions which strive towards efficiency must be replaced with institutions that aspire towards love and care (hooks, 2000; Tronto, 2001).

'There are too many versions of this story, where the taunting mouth of fear keeps me quiet.

But if I do not speak, who knows what star's possible blooming I silence.'

Thuli Zuma (2014)

### Table of Contents

Α	bstract	2	
Та	able of Contents	4	
Ι.	Introduction	5	
	I.I Setting the Narrative	5	
	I.II Conceptualising Blackness and Anti-Blackness	6	
	I.IV Relevance and Structure	7	
II.	. Methodology	9	
Ш	I. Understanding the Equality Act 2010.	11	
	III.I Policy Formation and Intention	11	
	III.II The Equality Act in the International Context	12	
	III.III Perceptions and Outcomes	13	
IV	. How are Black liberatory theories translated into the substantive sections of the Equality Act 2010?	15	
	IV.I. Understanding Anti-Blackness	15	
	IV.II. Section 1: Deconstructing Racial Capitalism	16	
	IV.III. Section 14: Intersectionality and Dual Discrimination	18	
	IV.IV. Section 149: Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) and Institutional Racism	20	
	IV.V. Chapter Summary	21	
V	. To what extent do the conceptions of personhood contained in the Equality Act 2010 demonstrate change?	23	
	V.I. Personhood in the Equality Act	24	
	V.II. Personhood in the English Legal System	24	
	V.III. Community Conceptions of Personhood	26	
	V.IV. Evaluating Change and Continuity	27	
v	I. What alternative policy approaches could facilitate more success in achieving Black liberation?	30	
	VI.I The Decolonising Revolution	30	
	VI.II Institutional Love and Care	31	
	VI.III Reimagining Participation	32	
	VI.IV. Reparations	34	
	VI.V. Chapter Summary	35	
v	II. Conclusions	37	
	VII.I. The Equality Act 2010: A Radical Policy Solution?	37	
	VII.II. Responsibilities of social policy	39	
	bliography		
••	endix 1: Dedications	53 54	
۱ppe	ppendix 2: Excursions		

#### I. Introduction

#### I.I Setting the Narrative

Social policy is fundamentally concerned with asking whether a particular innovation has been good or bad (Smith, 1978). This question is premised on a belief that a society where people are free to thrive is good morally, socially, economically, and politically. Despite this, the mainstream discipline has failed to either focus on racism as a core inequality to ameliorate, or recognise the centrality of colonialism to the construction of the European welfare state (Williams, 2016; Bhambara and Holmwood, 2018). At the heart of this question, is the challenge as to whether the Equality Act 2010 – the main legislative instrument addressing racism in the UK – has contributed to bringing about liberation for Black people.

Looking across social science disciplines, a wealth of research exists on the inequalities experienced by Black people in Britain. The Scarman Report (1981), Macpherson Report (1999), Parekh Report (2000), Cantle Report (2001), Mubarek Report (2006), Our Shared Future Report (Singh, 2007), Lammy Report (2017), the Colour of Money report (Khan, 2020) the Joint Committee on Human Rights report (2020), have exposed racial inequalities in key policy areas including housing, education, the labour market, criminal justice, immigration, and healthcare. The tendency – in policy research and practice – has been to compartmentalise policy areas without interrogating the underpinning ideas which have legitimised and perpetuated anti-Blackness through policy institutions. The anomaly is the Commission for Race and Ethnic Disparities (2021) report which analysed a range of policy areas and declared systemic inequality in Britain largely reversed. This project explores the ideas cross-cutting different policy areas that have obstructed Black liberation.

The landmark Equality Act 2010 had ambitions of uprooting systemic inequalities and is, therefore, the closest national policy to pursuing liberation. The Equality Act 2010

prohibits direct and indirect discrimination based on nine protected characteristics including race. During the second reading of the Equality Bill in the House of Lords, Baroness Royall asserted 'this is a radical Bill, a Bill brimming with ideas, a Bill with measures for the benefit of people across the United Kingdom' (House of Lords, 2009). Oxford Learner's Dictionary (2021) defines 'radical' as being 'in favour of extreme and complete political or social change'. As such, describing the Bill as radical, implies a relationship with critical scholarship, ambitious policy ideas and even activism. A decade on, the radical impact of the Equality Act is contested in British public discourse. While the Act codified liberatory theories and ideas, there is debate as to whether Black communities have noted improved lived experiences. To evaluate how radical the Equality Act 2010 has been regarding Black liberation, it is important to outline these terms.

#### I.II Conceptualising Blackness and Anti-Blackness

Jung and Vargas (2021) contextualise Blackness as a category developing following the abolition of slavery to recognise a population who had been considered socially non-people. As a result, Black has largely become synonymous with people of African descent. 'Black' references people from Black African, Black Caribbean and other Black communities (Joint Committee on Human Rights, 2020). Fredrickson (1995) argues Black communities experience similar oppression emanating from global white supremacy. Thus, rather than being innate or natural, Blackness was formed by white supremacist structures and institutions. Nevertheless, concepts of Blackness have been reclaimed and defined within the community through transnational activism (Garvey, 1937; Donnelly, 2015; Fanon, 2017). The word Black will be capitalised throughout, as has been advocated for by Black liberation activists throughout the 20<sup>th</sup> Century to recognise cultures as well as a race (Coleman, 2020).

If Blackness is best understood in relation to communities that share oppressive experiences, questions arise as to what anti-Blackness and Black liberation mean. Succinctly, we can understand anti-Blackness as the racialised capitalistic structures which sustain inequalities negatively impacting Black people (Fredrickson, 1995). Racial capitalism was a socioeconomic system designed to uphold the colonial empire, starting as early as the 16<sup>th</sup> Century through imperial pursuits including chattel slavery (Bhambra and Holmwood, 2018). Leading on from this, Black liberation is a political consciousness which pursues the freedom of all people to thrive and shape their lives in majority white countries and ex-colonies (Fredrickson 1995). This pursuit has adopted different rhetoric including anti-slavery; rights to suffrage; civil rights; decolonial independence; Black Internationalism; and Pan-Africanism among others (Fredrickson, 1995; Robinson, 2000; Lewis, 2011). The core desire of Black liberation is for people of African descent to shirk political, social, and economic disempowerment (Fredrickson, 1995). The Oxford Languages Dictionary (2021) defines liberation as 'the action of setting someone free from imprisonment, slavery, or oppression', in this case structural oppression. Hayward (1998:3) defines freedom as a state where choice is exempt from external influence and 'the product of... authentic desires, interests and wants'. Thus, Black liberation can be understood as the pursuit of freedom.

#### I.IV Relevance and Structure

At the supranational level, global anti-Blackness has been a priority since 2014, with the UN Resolution 68/237 declaring 2015-2024 the Decade for People of African Descent. This resolution highlighted anti-Blackness as one of the most significant manifestations of racism. In Britain the experiences of Black people have been particularly high on the public agenda since 2020, following the global Black Lives Matter protests prompted by the police murder of George Floyd. Hundreds of thousands of grassroots movements sprung up against structural violence towards Black people (Haworth, 2020). As passionately as people protested for Black Lives Matter, cabinet ministers and citizens contested the 'gesture politics' of taking the knee and the raised right fist (Babu, 2021). In response to protests, the national government endorsed *Commission for Race and* 

7

*Ethnic Disparities: The Report* (2021), which published findings that there was no structural racism in the UK. This could arguably be an assertion by conservative thinkers that policy initiatives, including the Equality Act, have succeeded in overcoming racism against Black people. The findings prompted a wave of disappointment and was dismissed by activist groups, unions, business groups, and the United Nations who recognise preceding research about persistent inequalities in Britain (Merick and White, 2021).

To answer the central question – how has the Equality Act 2010 contributed to Black liberation in Britain? – this piece asks three sub-questions. Firstly, Section III explores preceding debates and political context of the Equality Act 2010. Section IV asks: how are Black liberatory theories translated into the Act? Section V asks: to what extent do the conceptions of personhood contained in the Equality Act 2010 demonstrate change? Finally, Section VI asks: what alternative policy approaches could facilitate more success in achieving Black liberation in Britain?

#### II. Methodology

Increasingly, rigorous social science research seeks to make transparent the epistemological relationship between researcher and subject. Central to this relationship is the positionality of the researcher, which may influence the questions asked, methodological approaches, and interpretations (Phillips and Earle, 2010). Aspiring to practice active reflexivity, this section opens with a brief biography of the author. As a Black woman raised in Britain researching Black British experiences, I consider myself an insider to this research, embodying a passionate agenda for achieving Black liberation. This piece challenges Simmel's (1950) view that being a 'stranger' equates to objectivity because this argument de-racialises policy and academic narratives. By deracialising methodologies, people of colour are excluded from being considered reputable contributors to scholarship on race. Insider status positions me favourably with access to Black activism spaces. Utilising this access, I conducted a round table hosted on 11<sup>th</sup> August 2021 with pro-liberation activists, students, and members of the community to interrogate the themes of this research and robustness of arguments. Despite its utility, the benefit of insider status should not be overstated (Phillips and Earle, 2010). Black communities in Britain are heterogeneous with a range of different perspectives. The author has a responsibility not to essentialise or reinforce harmful narratives about said communities due to personal connection (Okech, 2021).

Contemporary social policy strives to understand patterns of inequality. However, the root causes of these inequalities remain under-researched in the discipline. Seeking to *rerum cognoscere causas* (understand the cause of things) the intention here is to explore how far the Equality Act 2010 has contributed to Black liberation by analysing the intention of the Act, the interaction with Black liberation scholarship, the degree of continuity and change from existing policy paradigms. This question suited literature-based analysis – using models from Critical Race scholarship (by Crenshaw, Robinson,

Ture and Hamilton) – as a lens to evaluate the content and ideas underpinning the Equality Act 2010. A significant challenge has been the modelling of Black liberation and Critical Race Theory on the American context, while the scope of this research is Britain. However, the under-representation of Black liberatory scholarship modelled on Britain is demonstrative of the motivation to investigate this question.

Chapters will be framed by proverbs, poetry and quotations by Black authors as an homage to the knowledges conventionally devalued in academia. Similarly, hooks' Black feminist practice of spelling pennames in lower-case to decentre the author will be respected. Though integrating proverbs does not overturn the epistemic dominance of the Global North, the symbolism is significant (De, 2006). Additionally, in recognition of the obstructed access of Black people to the academy, this research will be presented freely to the public at an event after submission.

#### III. Understanding the Equality Act 2010.

#### Where there are experts there will be no lack of learners.

Swahili Proverb

#### III.I Policy Formation and Intention

In order to evaluate the radical nature of the Equality Act 2010, it is important to first analyse the intention behind the Act and context that shaped it. Advancing equality legislation was a priority first outlined in Labour's 2005 manifesto. After some delay, the Equality Bill was brought to the floor in 2009. Due to the short period before the end of the Parliamentary session, the timing was considered political game-playing by the opposition, prompting resistance (Great Britain, House of Lords, 2010). The Labour Party manifesto's commitments, relevant to Black liberation, included '[forging] an even stronger bond between the goals of economic progress and social justice' and 'leading on Africa' (Blair, 2005:8). The manifesto proposal centred equality in employment, within public services, and an equalities review in 2006 (Blair, 2005).

The equalities review manifest as the *Equality, Diversity and Prejudice in Britain* report, which analysed whether Britain was becoming more tolerant as it became increasingly diverse (Abrams and Houson, 2006). The report found prejudice was expressed differently towards various groups and more than 50% of people of colour experienced racism. The British population demonstrated commitment to equality, particularly where disadvantaged groups were perceived as 'deserving' (Abrams and Houson, 2006:10). Perceptions of entitlement prompted hostility to policies that aided disadvantaged groups but seemingly infringed upon meritocracy and individualism (Abrams and Houson, 2006).

The Equality Act was introduced to Parliament by the Labour MP Harriet Harman, then Minister for Women and Equalities. Drawing from the long title of the Equality Act 2010, the main intentions were to: harmonise nine major pieces of existing legislation; eliminate pay gaps; prohibit victimisation; eliminate discrimination; impose duties during public procurement functions; and increase equality of opportunity. For our purposes, the relevant statutes that were absorbed into the Equality Act included the Race Relations Act(s) 1968 and 1972. The ideological underpinning of the Act – reiterated both by Labour MPs and opposition MPs throughout the Bill's second reading – was predominantly equality of opportunity (Great Britain, House of Commons, 2009). This is based on the argument that equality is the birthright of every individual person and stimulates an internationally competitive economy (Great Britain, House of Commons, 2009). Secondarily, Labour MP Julie Morgan alluded to the relationship between equality and happiness in society. Emerging from subsequent debates in the House of Commons, there was hope that the Equality Act would bring about more transparency in social disparities (Great Britain, House of Commons, 2009).

Delivery of Equality Act provisions was allocated to the Equality and Human Rights Commission (ECHR), leading to the dissolution of the primary institution for racial justice, the Commission for Race Equality, in 2007. Bercow criticised the reform of the ECHR, arguing that while the tribunal standardises practice for protected groups, it also obstructs access to justice for those who may not have the biographical availability to raise claims (Great Britain, House of Commons, 2009). Biographical availability was conceptualised by Milkman et al (2014) to recognise the domestic and employment demands that can constrain the time citizens have available to challenge systemic inequalities.

III.II The Equality Act in the International Context

The Equality Act 2010 was perceived as an opportunity to fulfil the UN Human Rights Convention on the Elimination of all Forms of Racial Discrimination, which the UK ratified in 1969 (Great Britain, House of Commons, 2009). This convention leans into the human rights model, within which rights are awarded on an individual condition of personhood, the significance of which will be explored in Section V. Equality of opportunity has been selected as the primary international approach to antidiscrimination because it is deemed less politically polarising. The equality of opportunity model was largely driven by the World Bank. The intention of this choice was outlined by Marcelo Giugale who argued equality of opportunity bypassed left-right debates that could be an obstacle (Morabito et al, 2013). Though depoliticising inequality is strategic for diplomatic relationships, it contorts problem structuring by erasing the inherently political causes of inequality.

The economic context was also significant with the Bill being introduced during a global recession. This timing inspired criticism from Conservative opposition in Parliament who were concerned about the burdens imposed on the private sector to comply with new employment practices introduced by the legislation (Great Britain, House of Commons, 2009).

#### III.III Perceptions and Outcomes

Parliament passed the Equality Act in 2010, the same year the Conservative Coalition government came into power and adopted responsibility for implementation. The majority of the Act was implemented according to the Labour timeline. However, Section 1 was scrapped and Section 14 left unenforced due to a belief that parts of the Act were examples of 'pointless political correctness and social engineering' (Great Britain, Home Office, 2010).

Public responses remain fraught. Self-declared conservative citizens argue that the Equality Act 2010 is the 'legal underpinning of identity politics in the UK' and criticise the Conservative party for being 'progressive' cheerleaders for not overturning the Act in its entirety (Jones, 2019). Contrastingly, some citizens call for a more radical approach, that achieves a revolution in civil liberties (Mos-Shogbamimu, 2018). Formal institutions mirror this debate. The *Commission for Race and Ethnic Disparities report* (2021) boasted the Equality Act as the most advanced anti-racism policy in Europe, while the *Black People, Racism and Human Rights report* evidenced persistent inequalities in housing, education, the economy and criminal justice (Great Britain, Joint Committee on Human Rights, 2020). This demonstrates that the greatest question in evaluating the radical nature of the Equality Act 2010 is: radical to whom? During the Parliamentary debates, then Shadow Home secretary, Theresa May, argued that 'fairness is a very straightforward concept' (The House of Commons, 2009). However, in practice, the pursuit of Black liberation in Britain is anything but straightforward.

## IV. How are Black liberatory theories translated into the substantive sections of the Equality Act 2010?

We have lived a painful history, we know the shameful past, but I keep on marching forward, and you keep on coming last.

Maya Angelou (Equality, 1990)

Though the Equality Act 2010 establishes rights for nine protected characteristics, some substantive sections of the Act can be traced to Black liberation theories countering systemic anti-Blackness. This section aims to explore the translation of racial capitalism, intersectionality, and institutional racism into the substantive sections of the Equality Act, with a focus on Sections 1, 14 and 149 respectively. The translation of Black liberation theories into a British statute is indicative of a radical policy approach, departing from the approaches that existed prior. Recognising the significance of problem structuring in understanding policies, this section opens with a definition of anti-Blackness (Blackmore and Lauder, 2005).

#### IV.I. Understanding Anti-Blackness

There is contestation around the degree of synonymy between 'racism experienced by Black people' and 'anti-Blackness'. If anti-Blackness is understood as the racism experienced by Black people, we are simply honing-in on one aspect of a broader picture of racial discrimination, an experience shared by multiple racialised groups. However, Jung and Vargas (2021:19) argue that not only are racism and anti-Blackness distinct, but they require different models of change. A world without racism requires deep transformations in social practices and structures. Contrastingly a world without antiBlackness requires 'an entirely new conception of the social... a radically different world altogether' (Jung and Vargas, 2021:9).

Anti-Blackness is inherently associated with histories of white supremacy and racialised capitalist models. Fanon argues, anti-Blackness (negrophobia) is rooted in a fear and hatred of Black people that sits at the core of modern collective consciousness (Fanon, 2017). Anti-Blackness is removes political, economic and social power from Black people (Fredrickson, 1995). Looking at historical narratives, white supremacist ideologies perceived Black people as being 'intellectually and morally inferior... and therefore unfit to... associate with whites on a basis of equality' (Fredrickson, 1995:5). While these narratives may have softened in the modern world, residue of these stereotypes remain in the popular consciousness and contribute to the manifestations of anti-Blackness (Jardina and Piston, 2021). Overall, anti-Blackness encapsulates the ways Black lives are devalued and made more difficult by racialised social structures (Jung and Vargas, 2021).

The Equality Act 2010 mostly uses an equality model, which aims to reform social practices to treat people identically. However, it has borrowed concepts of intersectionality and institutional racism from Critical Race Theory, which is well-respected as more radical and transformative. Critical Race Theory recognises the ways in which law and policy have been historically anti-Black and attempts to transform these values (Reid, 2021). Thus, the borrowed principles in Sections 1, 14 and 149 arguably demonstrate learning from radical Black liberatory thought.

#### IV.II. Section 1: Deconstructing Racial Capitalism

Section 1 of the Equality Act 2010 commits authorities to 'have due regard to the desirability of exercising [strategic decisions] in a way that is designed to reduce the inequalities of outcome which result from socio-economic disadvantage'. This section

was particularly controversial during the reading of the Bill and almost led to the blocking of the Act by Conservative opposition in the House of Commons (2009). Two strong challenges were made. Firstly, Section 1 is no more than a declaration because it lacks mechanisms – such as redistributive taxation policies – by which this can be practically achieved. The second argument was that Section 1 had been 'tacked on' in a way that was unworkable (Great Britain, house of Commons, 2009). While these criticisms hold some weight, MP Judy Mallaber and Baroness Royall meaningfully retorted that the socioeconomic duty sits with ministers as a meaningful commitment to reduce inequalities for disadvantaged socioeconomic groups, which would translate into mechanisms differently depending on the policy area (Great Britain, House of Commons; House of Lords 2009).

Though the phrasing of Section 1 is race neutral, considering Black people are more likely to be in low-income households, this section had the potential to positively benefit Black communities in Britain disproportionately. According to the Runnymede Trust, for every £1 of income for a White British household, Black African households receive 10p, and Black Caribbean households receive 20p (Khan, 2020). This demonstrates a correlation between ethnicity and income in Britain, which is significant as economic capital is a core tenant of class (O'Brien, 2013). Bhambara and Holmwood (2018) argue that beyond the correlation between race and class, race explains the re-emergence of class in the late 20<sup>th</sup> Century as Black communities claimed more welfare rights. Their argument continues that Britain's free-market economy is racialised and influences social dynamics (Bhambara and Holmwood, 2018). Seminal Black liberation theorist Robinson (2000) developed the concept of racial capitalism, which acknowledged the embedding of racial hierarchies in modern capitalism traceable to feudal economic structures. Despite the empirical overlap and reputable theorising, British public discourse bifurcates race and class through pervasive narratives such as the 'white working class' (Taylor, 2009). As such, combining these social inequalities into one Act was also a

17

radical statement of intent to recognise the relationship between inequalities and socioeconomic disadvantage.

While this section is radically progressive in language, opposition prevented this provision from being impactful in practice. Conservative MP Philip Davies resisted Section One as an inherently 'socialist' and 'outmoded agenda' (Great Britain, House of Commons, 2009). This is consistent with the increasing liberalisation of the British welfare state in which privatisation has extended in the 21<sup>st</sup> Century (Thelen, 2012). The consequence of increased liberalisation is the exacerbating of wealth disparities and, therefore, upholding of class divisions. Increasing wealth disparities were highlighted by MP Mark Harper who disapproved of Britain's position among the lowest rates of social mobility in the Global North (Great Britain, House of Commons, 2009). Despite this counterargument, disapproval was worsened by the contentious language of 'equality of outcomes' in Section 1. During Parliamentary debates, then shadow Home Secretary, Theresa May, argued Section 1 was 'unworkable' (Great Britain, House of Commons, 2009). May later scrapped Section 1 in her capacity as Home Secretary of the Coalition government.

Overall, Section 1 of the Equality Act was extremely ambitious in relation to Black liberation because anti-Blackness is foregrounded on racial capitalism. The attempts to mitigate socioeconomic inequality through an equality of outcomes model departs from the established equality of opportunity approach, satisfying our definition of radical. However, political resistance to this innovation thwarted potentially radical impact.

#### IV.III. Section 14: Intersectionality and Dual Discrimination

A second provision in which the Equality Act 2010 radically integrated Critical Race Theory, was the Dual Discrimination provision in Section 14 (Hand, 2011). This provided

a novel avenue to redress for instances of 'discrimination [that result] as a combination of protected characteristics' (Government Equalities Office, 2009). The lack of access to justice for minorities within minorities arose as feedback from the formal consultation, *Framework for a Fairer Future* (Harman, 2008). Additionally, in the evidential *Equality, Diversity and Prejudice in Britain report*, Black people experienced more sexism than white and Asian groups (Abrams and Houson, 2006). In recognition of these two reports, drafters integrated the Dual Discrimination clause. This prompted criticism that the Bill had ranked some inequalities as more important by excluding marital status and maternity from the characteristics eligible for this section (Great Britain, House of Commons, 2009).

Section 14 recognises two forms of dual discrimination, consecutive and additive. Consecutive dual discrimination occurs when an individual experiences instances of discrimination based on two protected characteristics in turn. Additive discrimination is when an individual is treated worse because of two protected characteristics at the same time and the types of discrimination are distinct (Hand, 2011). Adopting Crenshaw et al's (2014) understanding of intersectionality as a tool for analysing the way that discrimination can be multiplied, Section 14 appears to legitimately integrate intersectionality. However, there are limitations to how successful this codification of intersectionality has been. Section 14 limited claims to two protected characteristics because only 113 of 13,000 case submissions to the consultation included 3 or more characteristics (Government Equalities Office, 2009). Arguably, this limits the access to Section 14 for those with more than two protected characteristics, who are likely to be more vulnerable to discrimination. Another critique of Section 14 is that intersectionality is a reflexive tool which ought to be used continually (Crenshaw et al 2014:10). Accordingly, codifying such a principle ironically diminishes its utility by freezing what is intended to be dynamic.

19

While there were drawbacks to the dual discrimination provision, its potentially radical impact has been obstructed by the failure of successive governments to enforce the instrument. Unlike Section 1 that was publicly scrapped, plans for the future of Section 14 have not been announced. Thus, the opportunity remains for future governments to implement and expand the dual discrimination clause due to the progression of public discourse since the passage of the Act (Bourne, 2020; Mos-Shogbamimu, 2018).

#### IV.IV. Section 149: Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) and Institutional Racism

Another example of the Equality Act 2010 being informed by liberatory concepts is the Section 149 (1) Public Sector Equality Duty. This provision learns from the concept of institutional racism which entered mainstream public discourse in the 1980s following the Scarman Report into the Brixton riots. Scarman (1981) defined institutional racism as 'unwittingly discriminatory' practices by public bodies. It was further popularised by the Macpherson (1999) Inquiry into the murder of Stephen Lawrence. The theory identifies institutions as the key actors in uprooting systemic racism. Macpherson applied the concept of institutional racism from Ture and Hamilton (1967:5) as 'the active and pervasive operation of anti-black attitudes and practices'. More recently, Taylor (2016:8) extended this to outline the mechanisms of institutional racism as 'policies, programs and practices of public and private institutions that result in greater rates of poverty, dispossession, criminalisation, illness and ultimately mortality of [Black people].' Taylor (2016:8) proposes that institutional racism is the best model through which contemporary anti-Blackness can be understood. However, Ampofo (2021) reiterates the limitation recognised by Ture and Hamilton (1967) that institutional conceptions of racism – as contained in Section 149 – absolve individuals within the majority group of their complicity to anti-Blackness.

Responding to the public conception of institutional racism, Section 149 imposed a duty on public bodies to '*have due regard to:* 

- Eliminate discrimination, harassment, and victimisation
- Advance equality of opportunity between people with and without protected characteristics
- Foster good relations between people with and without protected characteristics.'

Section 149 applies to public bodies or private bodies conducting public functions. From the outset this limits the scope of the Act with five times as many people working in the private sector and privatisation of public services increasing under Britain's current liberalisation trajectory (Holloway, 2020; Thelen, 2012). However, this was a political necessity as Parliamentary debates revealed reluctance from opposition to impose duties onto the private sector to avoid alienating business interests (Great Britain, House of Commons, 2009). The PSED is commonly practiced through conducting Equality Impact Assessments. In practice, assessments are formulaic, focused on financial implications and lacking the necessary reflexivity on disparate social experiences to inspire radical decision making (Runge, 2018). Prime Minister David Cameron mirrored this view during his term, dubbing them 'bureaucratic nonsense' (Runge, 2018).

#### IV.V. Chapter Summary

Considering Sections 1, 14 and 149 of the Equality Act 2010, it was fair for Baroness Royall to read the Equality Bill as 'radical'. The inclusion of the Socioeconomic Duty in Section 1, Dual Discrimination in Section 14 and Public Sector Equality Duty in Section 149 exemplify effort to translate Black liberatory theories from Critical Race scholarship into a progressive statute. Arguably this effort was somewhat misplaced. Ampofo (2021) argues that Black knowledges are often delegitimised, erased and reapplied without recognition. It could be argued that in codifying intersectionality and institutional racism without reference to the thinkers and communities, Parliament has practiced the colonial, epistemic violence liberation thinkers are attempting to reverse. This may have been inevitable as the Act was passed by Parliament, a historically anti-Black institution (Fredrickson, 1995). The more extreme harm, however, has been the scrapping of Section 1 and non-enforcement of Section 14 by subsequent governments. Though ambitious and well intentioned, a lack of political will to implement has erased the potential benefit of translating Black liberation theories into practical policy instruments.

## V. To what extent do the conceptions of personhood contained in the Equality Act 2010 demonstrate change?

'In the fullness of who I am, I can see the fullness of who you are.' Yassin Brunger (Shah, 2021).

In declaring the Equality Act `radical', proponent Baroness Royall implied what Hall understood as a paradigmatic change, altering instruments, goals and settings of policy (Great Britain, House of Commons, 2009; Hall, 1993). However, there is a valid challenge as to the extent to which the Equality Act has changed the foundational ideas of policy institutions that perpetuate anti-Blackness in Britain. One of the most significant policy ideas – which historically excluded and dehumanised Black people – has been the legal recognition of personhood (Fredrickson, 1995). For our purposes, personhood is synonymous with legal and social recognition.

Theories of policy continuity and change – considered aspects of the same conversation – have been explored extensively within social policy theory. Despite this, there is limited consensus as to the time frame, measure and scale necessary to constitute change (Beland and Powell, 2016). Some main schools of thought are historical institutionalism, gradual change and paradigmatic change. Historical institutionalists assert that institutions are change resistant and revert to established paths (Pierson, 2000). Streeck and Thelen (2005), theorising gradual change, argue adaptations occur through layering, drift, conversion, or exhaustion. Hall (1993) proposes that paradigmatic, or third order, change is rare but possible with external influence. Firstly, this chapter will assess the understanding of personhood contained within the Equality Act 2010. Secondly, the legal orthodox view of personhood will be observed. Thirdly, this chapter will compare the degree of continuity or change exercised by the Equality Act 2010 by bringing these conceptions into conversation with one another.

V.I. Personhood in the Equality Act

The Equality Act 2010 outlines a dual conception of personhood, with regards to race, in Section 2 (9)(2).

'(a) a person who has a particular protected characteristic is a reference to a person of a particular racial group.

(b) reference to persons who share a protected characteristic is a reference to persons of the same racial group.'

Part (a) is a more individualist model that perceives a person as '[having]' a protected characteristic. Part (b) adopts a conception of personhood that recognises a community of people who share a racial identity; and, therefore, may be likely to have a common experience of discrimination. The first conception of personhood in Section 2(9)(2)(a) is closer to the individualist legal view. However, Section 2(9)(2)(b) adopts a novel, community-oriented understanding of personhood comparable to conceptions from liberation scholarship.

#### V.II. Personhood in the English Legal System

English common law recognises natural persons as those who are human beings; who have been born; who are not dead; who are sentient; and capable of rights and duties (Stewart, 2006; Kurki, 2019). Despite satisfying these criteria, historically, slaves and women were considered property and not legal persons (Kurki, 2019). Referring to Jung and Vargas' (2021) definition of Blackness, as African descendants historically reduced to non-people, interrogating personhood is crucial to Black liberation (Molege, 2018). As social values have evolved, Black people have come to be seen as sufficiently rational and capable of personhood. However, the substantive criteria of personhood remains

consistent (Kurki, 2019). The conception of personhood is the basis for modern laws and policy, including the right to non-discrimination or equality (Kurki, 2019:3). Drawing from Critical Race Theory, the historically applied conception of personhood was by today's standards partial and actively anti-Black (Reid, 2021). In addition to personhood being available to individuals, it is also available to corporations demonstrating the centrality of the market to social relations as highlighted by Bhambara and Holmwood (2018).

The rigidity of this conception of personhood was well explained by Pierson (2000) who argued formal institutions create self-reinforcing processes which obstruct alternative ideas. One such self-reinforcing process has been the rooting of Western perceptions of personhood at the supranational level (Molege, 2018). Article 6 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights declares 'everyone has the right to recognition everywhere as a person before the law.' The preamble also asserts 'all human beings are born free and equal... and that everyone is entitled to all the rights and freedoms set forth therein'. This statement establishes the qualifier for personhood as something individual ('everyone') earned by physical human existence ('born free and equal'). However, this definition failed to acknowledge the logic of social classification that unevenly distributes rights, meaning privileges are not experienced by 'everyone', 'everywhere' (De, 2006).

Rawls' (1971) theory of justice has proposed a more progressive reading of orthodox legal recognition which pursues fair treatment by political institutions and officebearers. The entitlement to this justice is a self-evident status of individual humanity, where everyone has an equal right to basic liberties as determined by a minimal consensus. Though this model recognises uneven privileges, particularly economic ones, it centres the individual. Black liberation theorists have proposed alternative ideas for the current needs of society.

#### V.III. Community Conceptions of Personhood

In the evidentiary Equality, Diversity and Prejudice in Britain report, Abrams and Houson (2006) found that a person's sense of self, meaning and value are associated with the treatment of their group in wider society. This is consistent with African radical communitarian conceptions of personhood which perceive self-realisation as a process inherently associated with one's environing community (Molege, 2018). Mbiti (1984) frames this as 'I am because we are'. Expanding this to wellbeing, a Shona greeting holds 'I am well if you are well' (Ampofo, 2021). Accepting this, a focus on the experiences of communities is necessary to achieve liberation. The importance of centring community has been long established in Black liberatory scholarship and gave rise to conceptions of Black internationalism, Pan-Africanism and Global Blackness (Lewis, 2011; Davis, 2020). Fredrickson (1995) argues that in the 20<sup>th</sup> Century, politically aware Black communities understood their liberation challenges not in isolation, but as a shared anti-imperialist struggle of Black people across the world. Malcolm X, speaking at LSE in 1965, argued 'the black man himself will only be respected when Africa is united, is respected and is strong' (Donnelly, 2015). Contemporary public discourse has popularised the concept of diaspora to represent transnational economic, social and political relationships (Bloch et al, 2013). Diasporic identities encapsulate ongoing relationships, histories and patterns of migration, reiterating this communal humanity. Importantly, the transnational Black community shared empathy and solidarity over the selfdeterminism struggle for Africans in Africa and abroad (Lewis, 2011).

A community centred conception of personhood directly impacts the content of subsequent policies. Lewis (2017) argues that the Global North has much to learn from the Global South if knowledge hegemonies are deconstructed. Looking to Jamaica and Ghana, novel policy ideas have been introduced based on ideas of transnational Black community. In 2019, during a state visit by the Ghanaian President Nana Kofi Akufo-Addo to Jamaica, Prime Minister Andrew Holness announced visa-free travel between

the two countries, opening an opportunity for commercial and personal collaboration. The policy was justified on the basis that:

'[Ghana and Jamaica's] relations are deeply rooted in our ancestral and historic connections forged over many years and only made stronger by our... vision for peace and prosperity and the cultural affinities which unite our peoples' (Loop, 2019).

The reference to a common 'peoples' sharing 'ancestral and historic connections' associates the statement with Pan-African ideals of global communities as being core to personhood for African descendants (Lewis, 2011). A similar rhetoric can be traced to the African Union Constitution, which '[recalls] the heroic struggles waged by our peoples and our countries for political independence, human dignity and economic emancipation'. Thus, it is clear communal conceptions of personhood that recognise African 'peoples' as individuals within communities are deemed core to Black liberation.

#### V.IV. Evaluating Change and Continuity

Stemming from the two conceptions of personhood contained in Section 2 (9)(2) of the Equality Act 2010, both path dependence and gradual change are evident. The first conception, contained in part (a), can be read as an example of narrow path dependence. Narrow path dependence acknowledges change from an existing path is costly and politically risky (Pierson, 2000). Contrastingly, the second conception of personhood in section (b) is an example of gradual change, introducing a new policy idea without entirely overturning what existed prior. Borrowing from Streeck and Thelen (2005) part (b) could demonstrate a layering effect, working around institutional ideas that seem unchangeable.

There are clear correlations between section (a) and the orthodox view of personhood. There are two potential explanations for this: the strength of reproductive mechanisms and the lack of political will. Pierson (2000) argues that institutions create reproductive mechanisms which lock in certain ideas to policies and institutions. The English legal system has locked in the orthodox view of personhood through the constitutional principles of the rule of law - which Black people fought to be included in - and the supranational human rights model (Konig, 2006). These principles are widely accepted and human rights have come to be 'the dominant doxa of our time' (Hoffman, 2010). Generally, political risk discourages policymakers from adopting policy directions that may not be popular (Pierson, 2000). Considering the Coalition parties who implemented the Act - the Conservatives and Liberal Democrats - both advocated for individualist equality of opportunity models, it was unlikely they would absorb the cost of potential criticism by establishing a community-based conception of personhood (Pierson, 2000).

Section (b), however, does indicate some change from existing conceptions of personhood by translating exogenous ideas of community from Black liberation scholarship and activism through the term 'racial groups'. This reference indicates a novel understanding of systemic inequality, a gradual rather than paradigmatic change. Section (b) satisfies Streeck and Thelen's (2005) criteria for layering by setting new dynamics in motion, while presenting initiatives as correctives to existing policy institutions. The Equality Act was framed as an attempt to harmonise and strengthen existing non-discrimination policy that failed to eradicate inequalities in society, positioning itself as a corrective (Great Britain, House of Commons, 2009). Thus, perceiving Section (b) as an example of gradual policy change through layering is convincing.

The exclusion of Black people from social and legal conceptions of personhood has been one of the most significant mechanisms of anti-Blackness (Jung and Vargas, 2021; Fredrickson, 1995). Thus, any 'radical' Act trying to reverse structural inequalities

28

against Black people would need to challenge this. The Act has been ambitious in layering novel conceptions of personhood alongside orthodox ideas. This duality mitigated the potential political risk and costs of change, while making a concerted effort to point towards a more radical understanding of legal recognition. This duality is also comparable to ideas of moderate communitarianism - recognising both the individual and community - theorised by contemporary African scholars (Molege, 2018).

Subsequent to the Equality Act, the United Nations pronounced 2011 the Year of African Descendants (Lewis, 2011). This was expanded by the United Nations General Assembly Resolution 68/237, which declared 2015-2024 the Decade for the People of African Descent. The thematic focus is recognition, justice and development. Though this is positive in highlighting the significance of recognition in Black liberation, these resolutions must be approached with intellectual suspicion, questioning whether community liberation can be awarded through the same policy ideas of individual entitlement to rights which spread and maintained global anti-Blackness (Fredrickson, 1995; Lewis, 2011; Molege, 2018).

# VI. What alternative policy approaches could facilitate more success in achieving Black liberation?

### 'Our bones bear witness, recounting our existence to a time we will not live to see'

#### Thuli Zuma (2014)

Despite the intention of the Equality Bill to implement radical Black liberatory policy ideas, a lack of political will has limited the impact in practice. As such, radical change requires introducing new values, institutions and policies. This final substantive section asks: *what alternative policy approaches could facilitate more success in achieving Black liberation?* While the future is dynamic and difficult to pinpoint, the notion of clue announces what comes next and is often disregarded by hegemonic social scientific knowledge (De, 2006). This section will draw on contemporary liberation proposals as clues to policies that could bring about Black liberation.

#### VI.I The Decolonising Revolution

If liberation is the freedom from oppression, then its realisation requires a revolution or the establishing of a new social order (Fredrickson, 1995; Jung and Vargas, 2021). Martin Luther King Jr (1986) argued this would go beyond the disadvantages of Black people and confront society with 'all its interrelated flaws – racism, poverty, militarism and materialism.' While King was speaking to the American context, it can be meaningfully argued that any Black liberation revolution, including in Britain, would require reflection on interrelated systems of structural violence. The process of diagnosing the impact of racialised philosophies, institutions, norms, values and practices emanating from the Global North has been understood as decolonising (Ampofo, 2021). Beyond diagnosing the harm, decolonising also prognoses options for experiencing liberty, healing and restoration. This requires paradigmatic change, a radical departure from what has been

known before. Decolonising is inherently a transnational endeavour, though a particular struggle in Britain is the public collective amnesia which whitewashes history and makes this pursuit more complex (Gilroy, 1987). As a starting point, society must reconceive its notion of the self in relation to the state and consider how new institutions could mediate this.

#### VI.II Institutional Love and Care

Yassin argues that currently, 'we are shackled to the institutions that perpetuate institutional whiteness' and actors must radically reimagine them, rather than incrementally reform them (Shah, 2021). The concept of breaking down existing institutions to rebuild ones more fit for purpose borrows from the abolitionist perspective (Davis, 2020). Beyond renaming institutions, it is necessary to redefine their purposes and functionalities.

One of the most respected concepts for a new value system in Black liberatory discourse is the Love Ethic, which holds: 'public policy [should be] created in the spirit of love' (hooks, 2000). Love, as hooks understands it, refers to a number of dimensions, including 'care, commitment, trust, responsibility, respect and knowledge' (hooks, 2000:94). The foundational argument is that, redirecting the purpose of institutions towards mutual respect, counter-hegemonic knowledges, and accountability would ameliorate many social inequalities (De, 2006; Ampofo, 2021). These new institutions would seek to ensure physical, mental and spiritual health of communities by monitoring the provision of education, housing, jobs, art, music and recreation (Davis, 2021). Embedded into this would be a practice of participation where people within a town or city collaborate to 'map out programs that would affect the good of everyone' (hooks, 2000:98). This suggests a refocusing of knowledge and policy production towards the local community; a radical departure from existing globalised neoliberal principles (Thelen, 2012).

31

A parallel recommendation is the idea of the citizen as a carer. The carer proposal rejects the neoliberal state premise that the market will satisfy every need because this, Tronto (2001) argues, erases domestic contributions by women, lower classes and racial minorities. Instead, everyone ought to contribute to caring for the self, the environment and one another. Tronto (2001) concurs that this inevitably requires a refocusing of public institutions that were not created for the purpose of love. Exploration of both the Love Ethic and the citizen as carer are located in what De (2006) considers the sociology of emergences, a place of possibility. There is no guarantee that the Love Ethic or carer model will be selected. However, the ongoing critique of existing British formal institutions, being unhearing and unempathetic, could indicate support for more humane and love centred formal institutions (United Kingdom, Joint Committee for Human Rights, 2020).

#### VI.III Reimagining Participation

Once new institutions have been established, it would become necessary to reimagine the methods through which citizens engage with these institutions outside of electoral participation. New institutions would require conceptions of participation foregrounded on what De (2006) refers to as an ecology of knowledges. The Ecology of Knowledges broadens what society considers valid knowledge to bring more ideas into conversation with one another (De, 2006). The urgent need to reimagine the relationship between people and the state has emerged from recent Parliamentary research in Britain. The 2020 *Black People, Racism and Human Rights* report found a fatigue among the Black community, who were being continually encouraged to participate in research without resultant ideas being integrated into policy proposals (Joint Committee on Human Rights, 2020:14). This pattern is evident from the consultation prior to the Equality Act. Harman's (2008) *Framework for a Fairer Future* report and Government for Equalities Office Equality Bill: Assessing the impact of a multiple discrimination provision (2009) noted upwards of 13,000 contributions on the topic of multiple discrimination alone. Despite making it into the Act, Section 14 has not been enforced, demonstrating disregard of the contributions of marginalised communities.

Drawing on White's (1995) theory of participation, this systemic ignoring of the grievances among Black communities in Britain could be understood as nominal participation. Nominal participation is top-down and motivated by a desire for legitimation of the state. Seeking contributions from Black communities without integrating findings demonstrates a performative display of participation and co-ownership. However, liberation necessitates transformative participation. White (1995) characterises transformative participation as a means to achieve empowerment by allowing participants to consider options, make decisions and take collective action to fight injustice. Hayward (1998) expands this, proposing that participation also entails shaping 'the social limits that define what is possible'. While White's theory is modelled on development policy in the Global South, responding to Lewis' (2017) call for North-South learning, there is an opportunity here.

Applying De's (2006) teaching on clues, the current policy context in Minnesota could demonstrate the radical potential of Black activists engaging in transformative participation. Responding to intense demands from Black Lives Matter activists from the more radical wing, Minnesota explored the feasibility of defunding police departments (Wood, 2020). Though calls for police abolition have existed for as long as police forces, the participation of activists in the context of transnational Black Lives Matter protests broadened the scope of what wider society perceived as possible (Davis, 2020). The limitation of Minnesota's defunding initiative is that Black liberation activists have been integrated into existing consultation structures, rather than being considered in the initial design of police systems. This concern was asserted by James Baldwin, who declared 'I am not a wart of America... I am one of the people that built the country. Until this moment there is scarcely any hope for the American dream because the people

who are denied participation in it, will wreck it.' (Baldwin, 2016). Baldwin speaks to the American audience in a pre-Civil Rights context. However, this principle of exclusion causing destruction is comparable to the experience of Black people in contemporary Britain communicated by MP David Lammy. 'What happens is what we see on the streets of the United States... People get very angry and frustrated. I fear and worry for the future if we do not... comprehensively [implement] reviews that have been recommended after long and careful deliberation.' (Great Britain, Joint Committee on Human Rights, 2020:14).

#### **VI.IV.** Reparations

Recognising the economic disempowerment of Black communities in Britain and Black majority countries through racial capitalism, liberation demands the redistribution of resources (Robinson, 2000; Taylor, 2016:18). Black liberation movements have long called for reparations, but this call contorts as racial capitalism morphs (Ampofo, 2021; Davis, 2020). The importance of wealth redistribution for liberation reaffirms the radical nature of Section 1 of the Equality Act – the socioeconomic duty - explored previously. Despite this, reparations are notoriously unpopular in political discourse due to the burden they impose on formal institutions and governments. Potentially, this conversation could be reframed to focus on horizontal redistribution, which centres the family as the prime recipient (Walker, 2005). Adapting this further, a community or locality could be the recipient, with funding directed to policy areas where racial disparities are most stark. Funding allocations would contribute to a broader reorganisation of society the purpose of which would be to support citizens to thrive (Davis, 2020). Considering recent research findings, employability and education could be target areas for community centred reparations (Great Britain, Joint Committee on Human Rights, 2020; Khan, 2020).

34

The likelihood of reparations being operationalised has increased as a result of local politics in Bristol (Mathers, 2021). In 2021, Bristol City Council passed a motion with 47 votes to 12 to write to Parliament advising an inquiry into the practicalities of offering reparations for the Transatlantic Slave Trade at the national level (Bristol Local Council, 2021). Bristol understood reparations according to the UN General Assembly Resolution 60/147, as holistic repair including public apologies, social justice initiatives, education, cultural projects, commemorative ceremonies, and affirmative action. Labour and Green Party councillors brought forth the motion, which was endorsed by local residents of different ages, racial backgrounds and genders (Bristol Local Council, 2021). Conservative councillors voted against the motion but recognised it came from a 'good place' (Mathers, 2021). This rejection was consistent with the national Conservative Party platform, communicated by Prime Minister David Cameron in 2015, that Jamaica should 'move on' from reparations demands (Mathers, 2021). Significantly, Bristol's motion understood reparations as a response to power asymmetries established in the past but continuing in the present that affect 'Afrikan Heritage Communities' particularly regarding health, economic position and policing (Bristol Local Council, 2021). The language of 'Afrikan Heritage Communities' again references community centred concepts of personhood in compensating Black people for historic and perpetual structural violence.

#### VI.V. Chapter Summary

Any attempt to predict options for future Black liberation is largely speculative. However, utilising the idea of clue as outlined by De (2006), it is possible to explore the applicability of ideas about the type of policy and policy institutions that could establish Black liberation in Britain. The necessary start point is decolonising social values to make anti-Blackness visible in the public consciousness (Ampofo, 2021). From here, new formal institutions would embody purposes centred around love and care, rather than productivity and efficiency (hooks, 2000; Tronto, 2001). The creation of new policy institutions would offer a fresh opportunity to reimagine political participation between

35

the individual and the state, including community centred consultation which determines priorities and rules of engagement (White, 1995; Hayward, 1998). Introducing liberatory structures into British political consciousness is a tall order, evident from the lack of political will by British policymakers to implement even gradual change contained in the Equality Act 2010. Recognising this, notable members of the Black community in the Global North, such as Stevie Wonder, find a more worthwhile pursuit emigrating to majority Black countries (Melas, 2021). This is being encouraged by liberatory immigration policies such as Ghana's Year of Return, which invites African descendants with straightforward naturalisation and dual citizenship processes (Agyeman, 2019). However, Ampofo (2021) convincingly argues that anti-Blackness is a chronic disease which international, intergenerational liberation movements must persevere to defeat and Britain must face directly.

#### VII. Conclusions

'We have entered the time when work is love.' Lebo Mashile (TEDxEuston, 2019)

#### VII.I. The Equality Act 2010: A Radical Policy Solution?

Socially, economically and politically, Britain remains a deeply unequal society. Across the board, Black communities face some of the harshest inequalities and this was brought to the fore through the Black Lives Matter protests of 2020. In an attempt to mitigate persistent social inequalities, Parliament passed the Equality Act 2010. Proponents of the Bill considered it 'radical', 'good, progressive, visionary and overdue' (Great Britain, House of Commons, 2009). This research piece sought to evaluate how radical the Act has been in contributing to Black liberation in Britain.

For our purposes, radical was understood as path departure from existing policy through the integration of policy ideas from the Black liberation scholarship. Looking at the substantive content of the Act, it could certainly be considered radical in the eyes of policymakers and the Black community. Section 1 committed to overturning class divides, which could be likened to Robinson's (2000) racial capitalism. Section 14 designed a dual discrimination claim for those with intersectional identities (Crenshaw, 1987). Section 149 introduced the Public Sector Equality Duty to minimise institutional racism. Some accountability for path dependence lies with drafters for their lack of clarity on mechanisms to operationalise provisions. Ampofo (2021) argues Black liberatory ideas are often co-opted by white institutions without full understanding. One example was the decision to limit Section 14 from multiple discrimination to dual discrimination, which excludes the most vulnerable minorities within minorities, and demonstrates a lack of understanding of intersectionality. Despite noble intentions, the scrapping of Section 1 and non-enforcement of Section 14 by the Coalition government meant that while the draft Bill was 'radical' and 'visionary' to Parliamentarians the Act

37

is radical is words only. Perhaps it was an apprehension of the radical content that bolstered political opposition.

A significant idea upholding anti-Blackness in Britain, has been the legal conception of recognising personhood that historically dehumanised Black people (Jung and Vargas, 2021). Any act contributing to Black liberation would need to challenge this. The Equality Act introduced a dual conception of personhood. Section 2(9)(2)(a) perceives individuals as having protected characteristics, similar to the legal orthodox view. However, Section 2(9)(2)(b) recognises 'racial groups' which could be seen as a translation of communal conceptions of personhood existing in African radical communitarianism (Molega, 2018). This change is moderately radical in layering the conventional idea – which is reproduced by embedded principles - with the novel idea of communal identities (Streeck and Thelen, 2005). The duality would be perceived as radical by Parliamentarians. However, reputable Black liberation activist Davis (2020) argues gradual reform is rarely radical as there is always an inherent conservatism.

Exploring Davis' (2020) argument that gradual policy reform cannot be radical within existing institutions, a natural question arises about what alternative approaches could achieve Black liberation. According to Taylor's (2016) definition, liberation pursues true freedom, meaning: the right to be free from oppression; the right to make determinations about one's own life; freedom from duress, coercion or threat of harm. Achieving this understanding of liberation for Black communities in Britain would require overhauling existing institutions and social structures that uphold anti-Blackness. Whilst it is impossible to determine future policy trajectories, recommendations have been proposed. Initially, decolonising social values and institutions will make visible systems of inequality (Ampofo, 2021). Following on, new institutions with purposes of love and care ought to be established (Tronto, 2001; hooks, 2000). These institutions would require novel participation mechanisms capable of

listening to an array of knowledge bases. The facilitation of open dialogue would require a redistribution of resources, through financial and social reparations.

Overall, public crises occurring subsequent to the Equality Act indicate that Britain is far from achieving Black liberation. In fact, anti-Blackness continues to have fatal repercussions in modern Britain as was evident from: the police shooting of Mark Duggan in 2011; the 2017 Grenfell Tragedy; the ongoing Windrush Scandal; and sale of tear gas and rubber bullets to the USA by Britain during the 2020 Black Lives Matter protests (Petter, 2021; Symonds, 2020; Stone, 2020). This is largely because the Equality Act facilitates innovation in companies and public bodies using the statute as a foundation. However, institutions must create environments of freedom and liberation for themselves. Despite the bleak picture of perpetual anti-Blackness, the Equality Act 2010 is a young instrument. One decade is a short time to reverse 400 years of systemic anti-Blackness. As such the gradual change is promising and radical discourse in activism offers hope.

Had there been more scope and resources, interrogating emerging ideas would have been an insightful research direction. A qualitative research piece would have fostered an opportunity to interrogate Black liberation ideas being explored by activists and policy makers in the British context. The feasibility of these ideas could have been evaluated through semi-structured interviews with Black British activists and civilians, as well as non-Black civilians.

### VII.II. Responsibilities of social policy

The mainstream social policy discipline has been resistant to grapple with the coloniality of European welfare states (Bhambara and Holmwood, 2018). However, social policy makers and academics must change their approach. Bloch et al (2013:196) assert that

'social policy does not simply react and respond to the social world but also animates and drives it. Social policy interventions contribute to the ways... social world is... described and perceived and materially experienced'. The true 'missed opportunity' of the Equality Act 2010 was a proposal for the advancement of Black liberation in Britain (Great Britain, House of Commons, 2009). Leaning into Kingdon's (2014) Windows of Opportunity model, social policy thinkers ought to prepare feasible policy alternatives that can be applied during a convergence of political will and public agendas. As it stands, radical policy alternatives could be in a period of abeyance, waiting for a favourable political environment. This being the case, the focusing events of the global Black Lives Matter protests and subsequent British public discourse, may have opened the window, if only partially, to attempt more radical policy approaches.

## Bibliography

- Abrams, D., and Houston, D, M., (2006). *Equality, Diversity and Prejudice in Britain: Results from the 2005 National Survey.* Kent: Centre for the Study of Group Processes.
- Adomako Ampofo, A., (2021). Decolonising Academia. *Cutting Edge Issues in Development Thinking & Practice, 19 Jan 2021.* London: LSE International Development. Available from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=YTwV91m9NX8.
- African Union. *Constitutive Act of the African Union* [online]. Lomé: African Union. Available from: https://au.int/sites/default/files/pages/34873-file-constitutiveact\_en.pdf.
- Agyeman, A., (2019). *The Year of Return: Ghana 2019.* [13 Aug 2021]. Available from: https://www.yearofreturn.com/.
- Ambikaipaker, M., (2021). Gendered Antiblackness and Police violence in the Formations of British Political Liberalism. In: Jung, M., and Vargas, J, H, C., *Antiblackness*. Durham: Duke University Press.
- Amos, V., and Doku, A., (2019). Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic Student Attainment at UK Universities: #ClosingtheGap. London: Universities UK and National Union of Students. Available from: https://www.universitiesuk.ac.uk/policy-and-analysis/reports/Documents/2019/bamestudent-attainment-uk-universities-closing-the-gap.pdf.
- Anand, A. (2020). The Reith Lectures. [2020: Mark Carney How We Get What We Value]. 02 Dec 2020. [04 Dec 2020]. Available at: https://www.bbc.co.uk/sounds/play/m000py8t.
- Angelou, M., (2021). 10 Most Popular Poems by Maya Angelou. [17 Aug 2021]. Available from: https://www.familyfriendpoems.com/poet/maya-angelou/poems/.
- Apeagyei, K., (2020) Surviving and thriving: A Black History month artistic celebration, 12 Oct 2020, London. Firoz Lalji Centre for Africa.
- Ashtiany, S., (2011). The Equality Act 2010: Main Concepts. *International Journal of Discrimination and the Law.* **11**. 29-42. Available from: DOI: 1358-229112009.
- Aspinall, P. J., and Song, M., (2013). Is race a 'salient...' or 'dominant identity' in the early 21st century: The evidence of UK survey data on respondents' sense of who they are. *Social Science Research* [online]. 42(2), 547-561. [18th Nov 2020]. Available from: DOI: 10.1016/j.ssresearch.2012.10.007.M,]8

- Babu, D., (2021). Priti Patel's 'support' for the police is little more than gesture politics. The Guardian[online].28Jul.[17Aug2021].Availablefrom:https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2021/jul/28/priti-patel-police-gesture-politics.
- Bacevic, J. (2021). Epistemic injustice and epistemic positioning: towards an intersectional political economy. *SocArXiv* [online]. [02 Aug 2021]. Available at: DOI: org/10.31235/osf.io/pzsf8.
- Back, L., and Solomos, J., (2002) *Theories of Race and Racism*. 2nd Edition. Oxfordshire: Taylor & Francis Group.
- Baldwin, J., (2016). *I am Not Your Negro* [online]. 10 Sep 2016. [27 Dec 2020]. Available from: Amazon Prime.
- Bashi, V., (2004). Globalized anti-blackness: Transnationalizing Western immigration law, policy, and practice. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*. **27**(4), 584-606.
- Beland, D., and Powell, M. (2016). Continuity and Change in Social Policy. *Social Policy & Administration* [online]. **50**(2), 129-147.
- Bhambra, G, K., and Holmwood, J., (2018). Colonialism, Postcolonialism and the Liberal Welfare State. New Political Economy. 23(5) 574-587.
- Biddiss, M., (1999). Gobineau and the origins of European racism. In: Bulmer, M., *Racism*. Oxford: Oxford University Press. 49-51.
- Blackmore, J. and Lauder, H., (2011) Chapter 11: Researching Policy. In: Somekh, B., and Lewin, C., *Theory* and Methods in Social Research. Edition 2. London: Sage Publications Ltd.
- Blair, T. (2005). The Labour Party Manifesto. London: The Labour Party.
- Bloch, A., Neal, S., and Solomos, J., (2013). *Race, Multiculture & Social Policy*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Bourne, C., (2020). Falling between the cracks is it time to legislate for dual discrimination. *Kingsley Napley* [online]. (10 Mar). [10 Aug 2021]. Available from: https://www.kingsleynapley.co.uk/insights/blogs/employment-law-blog/falling-between-thecracks-is-it-time-to-legislate-for-dual-discrimination.
- Caldwell, B., (2020). The Road to Serfdom After 75 Years. *Journal of Economic Literature* [online]. **58**(3), 720-748. [18th Nov 2020]. Available from: DOI: 10.1257/jel.20191542.

- Caratathis, A. (2014). The Concept of Intersectionality in Feminist Theory. Philosophy Compass [online]. 9(5), 304-314. [02 Aug 2021]. Available from: DOI: 10.1111/phc3.12129.
- Carbardo, D, W., Crenshaw, K, W., Mays, V, M., and Tomlinson, B. (2014). Intersectionality: Mapping the Movements of a Theory. *Dub Bois Review: Social Science Research on Race* [online]. 10(2), 303-312. [02 Aug 2021]. Available from: DOI: https://doi.org/10.1017/S1742058X13000349.
- Case., (2006). John Rawl's Theory of a Just Society. *Case* [online]. (01 Mar). [17 Aug 2021]. Available from: https://www.case.edu.au/blogs/case-subscription-library/john-rawls-theory-of-a-just-society.
- Coleman, N., (2020). Why We're Capitalising Black. *New York Times* [online]. 5 Jul. [21 Dec 2020]. Available from: https://www.nytimes.com/2020/07/05/insider/capitalized-black.html.
- Crenshaw, K. (1989). Demarginalising the Intersection of Race and Sex: A Black Feminist Critique of Antidiscrimination Doctrine, Feminist Theory and Antiracist Politics. *University of Chicago Legal Forum* [online]. **1989**(1), 139-167.
- Davis, A., (2020). Why Arguments Against Abolition Inevitably Fail. *Level, Medium* [online]. 6 Oct. [13 Aug 2021]. Available from: https://level.medium.com/why-arguments-against-abolition-inevitably-fail-991342b8d042.

Department for Education. (2014). Promoting fundamental British values as part of SMSC in schools: Departmental advice for maintained schools. London: Department for Education. Available from: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_d ata/file/380595/SMSC\_Guidance\_Maintained\_Schools.pdf.

- Donnelly, S. (2015). "Brilliant rhetoric" Malcolm X at LSE, 11 February 1965. 11 Feb. [04 Aug 2021]. Available from: https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/lsehistory/2015/02/11/brilliant-rhetoric-malcolm-x-atlse-11-february-1965/.
- Dosani, R. (2021). People have actually complained that a Black women's walking group was featured on Countryfile. *The Metro* [online]. 22 Jan. [03 Jun 2021]. Available from: https://metro.co.uk/2021/01/22/countryfile-hit-with-complaints-over-black-womenswalking-group-segment-13947978/.

Dunn. W. N., (2017). Public Policy Analysis. Sixth Edition. Abingdon: Taylor & Francis.

Dye, T, R., (1971). The Politics of Equality. New York: The Bobbs-Merrill Company Inc.

Equality and Human Rights Commission., (2017). Timeline of Our Achievement. Equalityhumanrights.com. [10 Aug 2021]. Available from: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/timeline.

Eze, M, O., (2011). I am because you are. The UNESCO Courier: Many Voices, One World [online]. Oct. [10 Aug 2021]. Available from: https://en.unesco.org/courier/octobre-decembre-2011/i-ambecause-you-are

Fanon, F., (2017). Black Face, White Masks. New edition. London: Pluto Press.

Fredrickson, G, M., (1995). Black Liberation: A Comparative History of Black Ideologies in the United States and South Africa. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Garvey, M. (1937). Message to the People. Massachusetts: Majority Press.

- Government Equalities Office. (2008) Framework for a Fairer Future The Equality Bill. London: Government Equalities Office. Available form: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_d ata/file/238713/7431.pdf.
- Government Equalities Office. (2009). *Equality Bill: Assessing the impact of a multiple discrimination provision*. London: Government Equalities Office. Available from: http://data.parliament.uk/DepositedPapers/Files/DEP2009-1229/DEP2009-1229.pdf.
- Grosfoguel, R., (2016). What is Racism? *Journal of World-Systems Research* [online]. **22**(1), 9-15. [18th Nov 2020]. Available at: DOI: 10.5195/jwsr.2016.609.
- Hand, J., (2011). 'Combined discrimination section 14 of the Equality Act 2010: a partial and redundant provision?'. *Public Law*. **2**. 482-490.
- Hand, J., (2016). An Analysis of Aspects of the Equality Act 2010. Doctor of Philosophy. University of Portsmouth. [21 Jul 2021]. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/profile/James-Hand-2/publication/311372874\_An\_analysis\_of\_aspects\_of\_the\_Equality\_Act\_2010\_Commentary\_ as\_part\_of\_PhD\_by\_Publication/links/584310b308ae2d217563798a/An-analysis-of-aspectsof-the-Equality-Act-2010-Commentary-as-part-of-PhD-by-Publication.pdf.
- Haworth, A. (2020). The Global Fight for Black Lives. *Marie Claire* [online]. 23 Nov. [30 Jul 2021]. Available from: https://www.marieclaire.com/politics/a34515361/black-lives-matter-international/.

Hayward. C. R., (1998). De-Facing Power. Polity. 31(1), 1-22.

Hoffman, S, L., (2010). Human Rights in the Twentieth Century. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Holloway, L., (2020). 'We Must Take Notice of Labour's New Direction'. The Voice. Apr.

Home Office., and The Rt Hon Theresa Map MP., (2010). Socio-economic duty to be scrapped. Gov.uk. [10 Aug 2021]. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/news/socio-economic-duty-tobe-scrapped.

hooks, b., (1994). Teaching to Transgress. Abingdon: Routledge.

- hooks, b., (2001). All About Love, New Visions. First Perennial Edition. New York: HarperCollins.
- lafrati, S., and Millar, J., (2019). *Social Policy Association.* 03 June. [04 Dec 2020]. Available from: http://www.social-policy.org.uk/50-for-50/race-ethnicity-social-policy/.
- Jardina, A., and Piston, S. (2021). The Effects of Dehumanizing Attitudes about Black People on Whites' Voting Decisions. *British Journal of Political Science* [online]. 1-23. Available from: DOI: https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007123421000089
- Jones, W., (2019). What are the conservatives waiting for? Repeal this ridiculous Equality Act. *Conservative Woman.* 15 Feb. [10 Aug 2021]. Available form: https://www.conservativewoman.co.uk/what-are-conservatives-waiting-for-repeal-thisridiculous-equality-act/.

Jung, M., and Vargas, J, H, C., (2021). Antiblackness. Durham: Duke University Press.

Kahneman, D., (2012). Thinking Fast and Slow. London: Penguin Books.

- Kelley, R., (2017). What Did Cedric Robinson Mean by Racial Capitalism? Boston Review [online]. 12 Jan. [14 Aug 2021]. Available from: http://bostonreview.net/race/robin-d-g-kelley-what-did-cedricrobinson-mean-racial-capitalism.
- Khan, O., (2020). The Colour of Money Report. London: The Runnymede Trust. Available from: https://www.runnymedetrust.org/uploads/publications/pdfs/2020%20reports/The%20Colou r%20of%20Money%20Report.pdf.
- King, M, L., and Washington, J, M., (1986). A Testament of hope: The Essential Writings and Speeches. New York: Harper Collins.
- Kingdon. J. W., (2014). Agendas, Alternatives and Public Policies. Second Edition. Essex: Pearson Education Limited.

Konig, D, T., (2006). The Long Road to Dred Scott: Personhood and the Rule of Law in Trial Court Records of St. Louis Slave Freedom Suits. *UMKC Law Review*. **75**(1), 53-80.

Kurki, V.A.J., (2019). A Theory of Legal Personhood. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Lewis. D., (2017) Should We Pay More Attention to South-North Learning?. *Human Service Organizations: Management, Leadership & Governance* [online]. **41**(4), 327-331. [09 Dec 2020] Available from: DOI: 10.1080/23303131.2017.1366222.
- Lewis, R., (2011). Marcus Garvey: the remapping of Africa and its diaspora. *Critical Arts: South-North Cultural and Media Studies.* **25**(4), 473-483. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/02560046.2011.639956.
- Loop., (2019). Jamaica and Ghana Arrange Reciprocal Visa-free Travel. *Loop Jamaica* [online]. 17th June. [19 Nov 2020]. Available from: http://www.loopjamaica.com/content/jamaica-and-ghana-arrange-reciprocal-visa-free-travel
- Macpherson, W. (1999). The Stephen Lawrence Inquiry. London: Parliament. Available from: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_d ata/file/277111/4262.pdf.
- Mandle, J., (2009). Rawls's: A Theory of Justice. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Matebeni, Z., and Msibi, T., (2015). Vocabulary of the non-normative. *Agenda: Empowering women for gender equity* [online]. **103**(29), 3-9. Available from: 10.1080/10130950.2015.1025500
- Mathers, M., (2021). Bristol council calls for parliamentary inquiry into slavery reparations. *The Independent* [online]. 03 Mar. [14 Aug 2021]. Available from: https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/bristol-council-slavery-reparationsparliamentary-inquiry-b1811676.html.
- Maurice, E. P., (2020). Tory MP Ben Bradley wants to 'look at equalities law' after suggesting straight, white men don't have enough rights. *Pink News* [online]. 20th Nov. [20th Nov 2020]. Available from: https://www.pinknews.co.uk/2020/11/20/tory-mp-ben-bradley-minister-meninternational-day-equality-actbacklash/?fbclid=IwAR3DG8G4H595PyGzENclidD7BCffkbTkCzu8uBZqvROdmBCwpf5jfwMTN0I
- Melas, C., (2021). Stevie Wonder is moving to Ghana. CNN Entertainment [online]. 22 Feb. [13 Aug 2021]. Available from: https://edition.cnn.com/2021/02/22/entertainment/stevie-wonder-movingghana-trnd/index.html.

- Merrick, R., and White, N., (2021). United Nations experts condemn 'shocking' race report and call for Commission to be scrapped. *The independent* [online]. 19 Apr. [19 Jul 2021]. Available from: https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/politics/race-report-un-boris-johnson-commissionb1833671.html.
- Milkman, R., Luce, S., and Lewis, P., (2014). Occupy Wall Street. In: Goodwin, J., and Jasper, J, M. *The* Social Movements Reader. New Jersey: Wiley-Blackwell
- Mondon, A., and Winter, A., (2017). Whiteness, Populism and the Racialisation of the Working Class. *Global Studies in Culture and Power* [online]. **26**(5), 510-528. [18th Nov 2020] Available from: DOI: 10.1080/1070289X.2018.1552440.
- Morabito, C., Vandenbroeck, M., and Roose, R., (2013). 'The Greatest of Equalisers': A Critical Review of International Organisations' Views on Early Childhood Care and Education. *Journal of social policy*, **42**(3), .451–467.
- Mos-Shogbamimu, S., (2018). UK Equality Act Is Not Fit For Purpose: It's Time for the Law to Recognise Multiple Discrimination. *Fawcett.* 05 Jun. [10 Aug 2021]. Available from: https://www.fawcettsociety.org.uk/blog/uk-equality-act-is-not-fit-for-purpose-its-time-forthe-law-to-recognise-multiple-discrimination.

Motsamai, M., (2018). Personhood and Rights in an African Tradition. South African Journal of<br/>Political Studies.45(2),217-231.Availablefrom:https://doi.org/10.1080/02589346.2017.1339176.

- Murray, J., (2020). Teaching White Privilege as an Uncontested Fact is Illegal, Minister Says. *The Guardian* [online]. 20 Oct. [21 Dec 2020]. Available from: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/oct/20/teaching-white-privilege-is-a-fact-breaksthe-law-minister-says.
- O'Brien, L., (2013). Britain now has 7 social classes and working class is a dwindling breed. *The Independent* [online]. 03 Apr. [23 Aug 2021]. Available from: https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/britain-now-has-7-social-classes-andworking-class-dwindling-breed-8557894.html?r=79880.
- O'Conner, R. (2017), Grime artists criticise Metropolitan Police over risk assessment form that 'targets certain genres' of music. *The Independent* [online]. (28 Mar). [03 Jun 2021]. Available from: https://www.independent.co.uk/arts-entertainment/music/news/grime-artists-form-696-risk-assessment-target-cancel-gigs-djs-mcs-matthew-hancock-mp-a7651546.html.
- Office for National Statistics., (2021). Unemployment Ethnicity Facts and Figures. [15 Jul 2021]. Available from: https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/work-pay-andbenefits/unemployment-and-economic-inactivity/unemployment/latest.

- Okech, A. (2021). *Decolonising the Researcher Keynote. April 28th 2021, London.* King's College London.
- Ostrom, V., and Bentley, A. F., (1992). Rethinking Social Policy, Race and the Underclass: Christopher Jencks. *Business Horizons.* **35**(5), 75-76.
- Pailey, R. N. (2020). De-centring the 'White Gaze' of Development. *Institute of Social Studies* [online]. **51**(3), 729–745. [18th Nov 2020] Available from: DOI: 10.1111/dech.12550.
- Pegg, D., and Evans, R. (2021). Buckingham Palace banned ethnic minorities from office roles, papers reveal. *The Guardian* [online]. (02 Jun). [03 Jun 2021]. Available from: https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2021/jun/02/buckingham-palace-banned-ethnicminorities-from-office-roles-papers-reveal.
- Petter, O., (2021). Windrush Scandal: Everything You Need To KNow About the Major Political Crisis. *The Independent* [online]. (22 Jun). [16 Aug 2021]. Available from: https://www.independent.co.uk/life-style/windrush-day-2021-scandal-historyb1870442.html?r=24424.
- Person. In: Stewart, W, J., (2006). Collins Dictionary of Law. Glasgow: Harper Collins. Available from: https://legal-dictionary.thefreedictionary.com/person
- Phillips, C., and Earle, R. (2010). Reading Difference Differently?: Identity, Epistemology and Prison Ethnography. Oxford Journals [online]. 50(2), 360-378. [30 Jul 2021]. Available from: https://www-jstororg.gate3.library.lse.ac.uk/stable/pdf/43610763.pdf?refreqid=excelsior%3A0d012020c2e411c b1ffcb5a7017c857b.
- Phillips, C., (2011). Institutional Racism and Ethnic Inequalities: An Expanded Multilevel Framework. Journal of Social Policy [online]. 40(1), 173-192. [20th Nov 2020]. Available from: https://doiorg.gate3.library.lse.ac.uk/10.1017/S0047279410000565.
- Pierson, P., (2000). Increasing Returns, Path Dependence, and the Study of Politics. *The American Political Science Review*. **94**(2), 251-267. Available from: https://www.jstor.org/stable/2586011.
- Poetry Foundation., (2020). Chris Abani vs. Entanglement. The VS Podcast. 19 May. [19 Aug 2021]. Available from: https://www.poetryfoundation.org/podcasts/153449/chris-abani-vsentanglement.

Radical. In: Oxford Learner's Dictionary. (2021). Oxford Learner's Dictionary [online]. [12 Aug 2021]. Available https://www.oxfordlearnersdictionaries.com/definition/english/radical\_1?q=radical.

Rawls, J., (1971). A Theory of Justice. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Reid, J., (2021). Creator of Term 'Critical Race Theory' Kimberlé Crenshaw Explains What It Really is [video]. New York: MSNBC. [06 Jul 2021]. Available from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=n4TAQF6ocLU.
- Robinson, Cedric J & Kelley, Robin D. G., (2000). *Black Marxism*, Chapel Hill: The University of North Carolina Press.
- Ruebain, D., (2019). If we don't protect arts education we'll lose the next generation of performers. *The Guardian* [online]. (20 May). [02 Jul 2021]. Available from: https://www.theguardian.com/education/2019/may/20/if-we-dont-protect-arts-education-well-lose-the-next-generation-of-performers.
- Runge, J., (2018). Government 'analysis' on equality impacts flawed, but that is no excuse not to act. *National Institute of Economic and Social Research.* 14 Mar. [10 Aug 2021]. Available from: https://www.niesr.ac.uk/blog/government-'analysis'-equality-impacts-flawed-no-excuse-notact.
- Runnymede Trust., (2021). England Civil Society Submission to the United Nations Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination. London: The Runnymede Trust. Available from: https://www.runnymedetrust.org/uploads/CERD/Runnymede%20CERD%20report%20v3.pdf.
- Shah, A. (2021). The Epistemic Urgency of Conceptual Diversity Reshaping Knowledge Production in the Social Sciences, 1st June 2021, London.

Simmel, G., (1950). The Sociology of Georg Simmel. New York: Free Press.

- Smith, G., (1978). The Meaning of 'Success' in Social Policy: A Case Study. *Public Administration (London)* [online]. **56**(3), 263-281.
- Sobolewska, M. (2011). Religion and Politics Among Ethnic Minorities in Britain. *British Religion on Numbers.* [03 Aug 2021]. Available from: http://www.brin.ac.uk/religion-and-politics-among-ethnic-minorities-in-britain/.
- Statistia Research Department., (2021). Unemployment rate of the UK 2002-2020. [15 Jul 2021]. Available from: https://www.statista.com/statistics/1123370/unemployment-rate-in-the-united-kingdom-uk/.

- Stewart, F., (2015) Social Policy Futures: Wreckage, Resilience or Renewal. London: LSE Department for Social Policy.
- Streeck, W., and Thelen, K., (2009). Introduction: Institutional Change in Advanced Political Economies. In: Thelen, K., Beyond Continuity: Institutional Change in Advanced Political Economies. New York: Oxford university Press.
- Stone, J., (2020). George Floyd protests: UK government urged to suspend export of tear gas, rubber bullets and riot shields to US amid 'excessive' use of force. *The Independent* [online]. 01 Jun.
  [23 Aug 2021]. Available from: https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/politics/george-floyd-protests-uk-export-tear-gas-rubber-bullets-shields-us-a9543106.html.
- Symonds, T., (2020). Grenfell Tower inquiry: Four possible reasons for the fire. *The BBC* [online]. (06 Nov). [16 Aug 2021]. Available from: https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-54792108.
- Tarrow, S., (1998). *Power in Movement: Social Movements and Contentious Politics.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Taylor, I. (2009).Myths of the white working class. *Socialist Review* [online]. (May). [03 Aug 2021]. Available from: http://socialistreview.org.uk/336/myths-white-working-class.
- Tedx Talks., (2016). *From #BlackLivesMatter to Black Liberation*. Keeanga-Yamahtta Taylor. Baltimore: Tedx Talks. [06 Jul 2021]. Available from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=nyE5nI1nRJI.
- Tedx Talks. (2019)., On Diversity: Access Ain't Inclusion. Anthony Jack. Cambridge: Tedx Talks. [13 Jul 2021]. Available from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=j7w2Gv7ueOc.
- Tedx Talks., (2019). *Going Through Race.* London: Tedx Talks. [06 Aug 2021]. Available from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=q\_73IDC9G8c.
- Thelen, K. (2012). Varieties of Capitalism: Trajectories of Liberalization and the New Politics of Social Solidarity. *Annual Review of Political science*. **15**(1), 137-159. [02 Aug 2021]. Available from: DOI: https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-polisci-070110-122959.
- Tronto, J., (2001). 'Who Cares? Public and private caring and the rethinking of citizenship'. In: Hirschmann, N, J., and Liebert, U., *Women and welfare: theory and practice in the United States and Europe*. New Jersey: Rutgers University Press.
- Tucker, W. H. Misusing Science to Justify Racial Discrimination. UN Chronicle. [19 Nov 2020] Available from: https://www.un.org/en/chronicle/article/ideology-racism-misusing-science-justifyracial-discrimination.

Ture, K., and Hamilton, C, V., (1967). Black Power. New York: Vintage.

- United Kingdom. Bristol Local Council. *Agenda and Minutes of Extraordinary Council Meeting Tuesday 2nd March 2021* [online]. Bristol: Bristol Local Council. [14 Aug 2021]. Available from: https://democracy.bristol.gov.uk/documents/g8692/Agenda%20frontsheet%2002nd-Mar-2021%2016.00%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=0.
- United Kingdom. *Equality Act 2010.* 1, 149 [online]. London: Legislation.gov.uk. [01 Jun 2021]. Available from: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents.
- United Kingdom. House of Commons., (2009). *Equality Bill* [Hansard], Monday 11th May 2009, 492 [online]. London: UK Parliament. [12 Jul 2021]. Available from: https://hansard.parliament.uk/Commons/2009-05-11/debates/0905118000001/EqualityBill.
- United Kingdom. House of Lords., (2009). *Equality BIII* [Hansard], Tuesday 15th December 2009, 715 [online]. London: UK Parliament. [12 Jul 2021]. Available from: https://hansard.parliament.uk/Lords/2009-12-15/debates/09121547000392/EqualityBill.
- United Kingdom. House of Commons., (2011). *Equality Act 2010* [Hansard], Wednesday 12th January 2009, 521 [online]. London: UK Parliament. [12 Jul 2021]. Available from: https://hansard.parliament.uk/Commons/2011-01-12/debates/11011264000008/EqualityAct2010.
- United Kingdom. Joint Committee on Human Rights. (2020). *Black people, racism and human rights.* 11, 2019-21. London: House of Commons and the House of Lords.
- United Kingdom Parliament. The Equality Act 2010: Government Bill. *Parliamentary Bills*. [13 Jul 2021]. Available from: https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/381.
- United Nations. Universal Declaration of Human Rights [online]. Paris: UN.org. [03 Jun 2021]. Available from: https://www.un.org/en/about-us/universal-declaration-of-human-rights.
- United Nations General Assembly. Resolution 60/147: Basic Principles and Guidelines on the Right to a Remedy and Reparation for Victims of Gross Violations of International Human Rights Law and SeriousViolations of International Humanitarian Law. 16 December 2005 [online]. New York: United Nations General Assembly. [14 Aug 2021]. Available from: https://documents-ddsny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N05/496/42/PDF/N0549642.pdf?OpenElement/.
- United Nations General Assembly. Resolution 68/237: *Proclamation of the International Decade for People of African Descent.* 23 Dec 2013 [online]. New York: United Nations General Assembly. [14 Aug 2021]. Available from: https://documents-dds ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N13/453/67/PDF/N1345367.pdf?OpenElement.

- Walker, R., (2005) Words, Meaning and the Important of Context. In: Walker, R., *Social Security and Welfare: Concepts and Comparisons.* Edition 1. New York: Open University Press. 15, 24.
- Walt, G., Shiffman, J., Schneider, H., Murray. S. F., Brugha, R., and Gilson, L. (2008). 'Doing' health policy analysis: methodological and conceptual reflections and challenges. *Health Policy and Planning* [online]. 23(5), 308-317. [19 Nov 2020] Available from: DOI: 10.1093/heapol/czn024.
- White, S. C., (1996). Depoliticising Development: The Uses and Abuses of Participation. *Development in Practice*. **6**(1), 6-15.
- Wood, O. (2020). What Does Minneapolis Mean by "Abolish" the Police? *Left Voice* [online]. (09 Jun). [03 Jun 2021]. Available from: https://www.leftvoice.org/what-does-minneapolis-mean-by-abolish-the-police/.
- Zimet, A. (2021). When You Win, You're English. When You lose, You're Black: This Is Why We Take the Knee. *City Watch* [online]. (15 Jun). [30 Jun 2021]. Available from: https://www.citywatchla.com/index.php/375-voices/22066-when-you-win-you-re-english-when-you-lose-you-re-black-this-is-why-we-take-the-knee.
- Zuma, T., In: Centre for the Creative Arts. (2014). Thuli Zuma at *Poetry Africa 2014*. South Africa: Centre for Creative Arts. [02 Aug 2021]. Available from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tegq84YaQJo.

# Appendix 1: Dedications

Thank You God (El Deot) who gave me the opportunity to study at LSE and continually inspires my mind. It was the Bible that first taught me radical love and drove some of the greatest Black liberation thinkers including Marcus Garvey, Martin Luther King Jr and Nelson Mandela.

Thank you to Mum and Dad for cultivating dynamic debate space at our kitchen table. This was a place we learnt by listening and engaging. I would not be who I am today without that site of knowledge production, for the tussle and for having a space where my voice was always valued. Your belief in me is the reason I have made it this far. Thank you also for my name - Maxine Llydia Thomas-Asante Maame Efua Yuuwa - which carries histories of resistance and power. I hope to make those who came before me proud.

Thank you to my brother, Brandon, for demonstrating the value of reflection. Taking the opportunity to evaluate and consider what we are seeing is how we grow. I learnt practically from you that the loudest voice is not always the wisest. Thank you for purchasing my textbooks during my studies and food supplies during my exams.

Thank you to my Nana, whose life story is one of perseverance, hope and Faith. My Grandmothers fought so that we could walk, stride, run. Thank you to my generations who passed down a fighting spirit and a belief that the world can be better than what we are seeing today.

Throughout my academic journey, professors, readers, lectures, seminar leaders and peers have shown me grace and support. Thank you to: AO, CP, AS for going above and beyond.

Thank you to the 137 people who donated to my Masters Fund; the Black Heart Foundation; Grant Taylor Trust; Chapman Educational Foundation. Thank you to my friends, my community and everyone who prayed for me. This belongs to you too.

### Appendix 2: Excursions

London is a particularly relevant location for the development of this dissertation. As the metropole of the British Empire, London hosted and brought together many great Black liberatory thinkers. Slavery abolitionist, Mary Prince, Pan-Africanist, Marcus Garvey, and independence leader, Kwame Nkrumah, spent considerable time here. In the case of Nkrumah, LSE itself was a site of learning. During the drafting of this dissertation, the author visited sites to inform and contextualise this research. Images of some of these visits can be found in this appendix as evidence.

In Teaching to Transgress, hooks (1994) teaches that Black liberation depends on a relationship between theory and practice. Generating theories can be a practice of liberation. Intercommunity conversations are important sites of knowledge production for this endeavour. Learning from this, the purpose of my excursions was to witness how different members of the Black community in Britain facilitate economic empowerment; celebrate activists; and champion Black liberation in practice. Abani (Poetry Foundation, 2020) argued that academic theories are only helpful if they can live in a body. Attending, witnessing and participating in these events – in London and Milton Keynes - ensured the arguments in this piece were relevant to the lives of Black communities in Britain and capable of living in one's body.





Figure 2 – Black Cultural Archives. Brixton, London.

Figure 1 – Marcus Garvey plaque. Earls Court, London.



Figure 3 – Reggae Festival, Milton Keynes.



Figure 4- The Africa Centre. Southwark, London.